FACTS OF THE CASE

This case was initiated by a report to Child Protective Services (hereinafter referred to as CPS) of allegations of sexual abuse made by a counselor. All three children were placed in foster care upon filing of the petition on 12/10/02. The initial adjudicatory hearing was set for 1/10/03. That hearing was continued for receipt of psychological examinations on the adults, which were never provided at any time. The adjudicatory hearing

commenced on 3/14/03 and continued all day. There being insufficient time to conclude the adjudicatory hearing, it was continued and again commenced on 5/15/03, but again could not be concluded due to time constraints. The adjudicatory hearing was finally completed on 5/22/03. The Court permitted counsel the option to submit written summations and tender them to the court and the court then took the case under advisement. The matter was set for a status conference on 11/26/03. At that hearing, the Court ruled from the bench and concluded that the infant children were not abused and neglected children and ordered the petition dismissed. Based upon a motion by this guardian ad litem, the Court did issue a stay on December 1, 2003, upon the grounds that the extended period of time that the children have been in foster care required a transitional period and further, the matter would be appealed. During the stay, the Judge ordered CPS to formulate a "transition plan" wherein the children would have increasing contact with their birth parents and ultimately begin to spend time with them unsupervised. A motion to reconsider the stay was set on January 14, 2004 and continued by the court for cause. Prior to a full hearing on the motion to reconsider the stay, new abuse and neglect allegations were filed, based upon additional and separate allegations made by Elizabeth Ashby. (These petitions were filed as new cases and therefor, not included in the current case file.) Following a hearing on the new allegations, the children were continued in their current foster placements and the issue of reconsidering the stay became moot.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In Syllabus point 1 of *In the Interest of: Tiffany Marie S.*, 196 W. Va. 223, 470 S. E. 2d 177 (1996), the Supreme Court set forth the standard of review for abuse and neglect cases:

Although conclusions of law reached by a circuit court are subject to *de novo* review, when an action, such as an abuse and neglect case, is tried upon the facts without a jury, the circuit court shall make a determination based upon the evidence and shall make findings of fact and conclusions of law as to whether such child is abused or neglected. These findings shall not be set aside by a reviewing court unless clearly erroneous. A finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is evidence to support the finding, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed. However, a reviewing court may not overturn a finding simply because it would have decided the case differently, and it must affirm a finding if the circuit court's account of the evidence is plausible in light of the record viewed in its entirety.

### JURISDICTION

From the date of the filing of the petition to the last order, the Department of Health and Human Resources took a strong position that there was sufficient evidence to proceed in this matter. Pursuant to W. Va. Code 58-5-1, "a party to a civil action may appeal to the supreme court of appeals from a final judgment of any circuit court." In a proceeding to terminate parental rights pursuant to the W. Va. Code, a guardian ad litem who is appointed for minor children is charged with the duty of exercising due diligence in carrying out the responsibility of protecting the rights of the children. This duty includes exercising the appellate rights of the children, if in the reasonable judgment of the guardian, an appeal is necessary. *In re Scottie D.*, 185 W. Va.

191, 406 S. E. 2d 214, (1991). The guardian ad litem for the two youngest children herein, Richard O. and Kimberly O., is appealing from a final circuit court order, and thus, the Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction in this case.

**FINDINGS OF ABUSE AND NEGLECT**

The assignments of error made by the guardian ad litem in this matter are set forth in the petition for appeal. She finds that the circuit court's findings and conclusions were contrary to the evidence in this case. In the final order, the circuit court stated:

8. *The testimony of two teenage girls was contradictory with one another that Court finds that the testimony is not worthy of belief.*

9. *The Mother of the third minor child made inquiry to the Infant Respondent Elizabeth Ashby's inquiry, and that no reasonable response and that two adult women actions of inquiry was reasonable.*

10. *The petitioner has failed by clear and convincing preponderance of evidence that the acts alleged in the petition occurred.*

The guardian ad litem firmly asserts that the court's findings that there was no evidence that these children were abused and neglected is clearly erroneous given the testimony by the stepsister Elizabeth and her cousin Melody during the adjudicatory hearing in this case.

From the testimony given in this case by the adult respondent JoAnn Ashby (mother), she became suspicious of sexual contact between the adult Richard O'Brien (her husband), Melody (a friend and cousin of Elizabeth's) and/or Elizabeth (JoAnn's daughter and Richard O'Brien's stepdaughter) beginning in the fall of 2000.

JoAnn admitted to finding condom wrappers and beer bottles in a tent where Richard O'Brien, Melody and Elizabeth had spent time together in November of 2000. JoAnn went so far as to question Melody and Elizabeth and discuss the matter with the mother's own sister and Melody's mother, Cinday Bradburry. Cinday also testified at the adjudicatory hearing. Cinday stated that she spoke to Richard alone and he denied doing anything but playing monopoly. Why she did not follow up on these allegations is unclear.

Later, after reading a sexually explicit letter which clearly indicated that improper sexual contact was occurring or about to occur between Richard and Elizabeth, JoAnn Ashby still did not confront Richard. JoAnn took the letter to a counselor, Janice Blake, for advice. The letter was provided to JoAnn by Richard for delivery to Elizabeth, according to Ms. Blake, who was one of the few truly independent witnesses in this case. When advised by Ms. Blake that she needed to report the alleged abuse to CPS, JoAnn stated that she did not have time to do so. Ms. Blake promptly reported the incident to CPS, as mandated by law. JoAnn later went back to Ms. Blake and tried to retract all that she had disclosed. At the adjudicatory hearing, however, JoAnn testified that she never saw the letter prior to the implementation of the protection plan. This testimony by JoAnn was not believable under the circumstance.

JoAnn did obtain a Domestic Violence Protective Order (DVPO) upon the recommendation of the CPS, but then she (JoAnn) made a

formal motion to dismiss it within 3 days. The computer, which could have been seized by the police and used to clarify the issues surrounding who drafted the letters in question, was sold by JoAnn and Richard within the same time frame. JoAnn's motion to drop the DVPO resulted in the removal of the children from her home, and Richard then appeared to be back in her life. They continue to live together to this date and are supportive of one another's actions.

Throughout the course of the hearing, Richard denied any improper contact and JoAnn engaged on a course of trying to appear supportive of her children, while still maintaining her relationship with Richard. She did admit that she was "concerned" that the letter might be true, when she first read it. She said that she found a letter from Elizabeth to Rachel, which implied that Elizabeth "set up" Richard. It was later taken to CPS. Interestingly, Richard O'Brien misspelled many of the same words in both letters and on the witness stand. He certainly appears to be the author of both letters to the guardian ad litem, however the court did not seem to take note of this fact.

JoAnn testified that she did not believe Elizabeth's accusations against Richard. She further testified that she did not know if Elizabeth was telling the truth or not. She also testified that she would "throw him [Richard] out" if he did the things alleged in the letter. She testified that she had not made a choice between Richard and her children and that she was trying to keep her family together.

Following the final adjudicatory hearing, it clearly appeared to all counsel involved (other than counsel for the adult respondents, Teresa Monk and Dennis Curry) that Richard O'Brien was a sexual predator. Due to JoAnn's position, her own daughter (Elizabeth) refuses to visit with her. Richard's testimony was not believable. Your guardian ad litem believes that Melody was molested by Richard and that both she and Elizabeth attempted to cover it up due to embarrassment, behavior typical of victims. The extent of what Richard did in the tent may never be known, since the victims appear to reluctant and/or fearful to revisit the incident. Melody Bradburry was so afraid of Richard that she was granted permission to testify outside his presence in the Courtroom of the Family Judge and the testimony was then videotaped. Following the adjudicatory hearing, the guardian recommended termination of the parental rights of both parents, as did the following counsel: Anita H. Ashley, guardian ad litem for the infant respondent Elizabeth Ashby; Drew Patton, counsel for the adult respondent Dallas Ashby (Elizabeth's father); Mark Sergent, prosecuting attorney and counsel for the DHHR; and the Department of Health and Human Resources. To continue in the care of either of these parents would be contrary to the welfare and best interests of the children.

The two younger half-siblings of Elizabeth, who are the natural children of JoAnn Ashby and Richard O'Brien, are Richard O'Brien, II, and Kimberly. These are the children represented by the guardian ad litem, H. Beth Sears, in this case. Although there

was no evidence that Richard, II and Kimberly were physically or sexually abused, they must be considered abused children because they resided in the home where the abuse of Elizabeth occurred. *W. Va. Code 49-1-3(a)* and *In re Christina L.*, 194 W. Va. 446, 460 S. E. 2d 692 (1995).

It is the belief of the guardian ad litem at the close of the evidence, there was clear, cogent and convincing evidence that the children whom she represented were clearly at risk of imminent danger if returned to the custody of their parents, JoAnn Ashby and Richard O'Brien. The Court did not rule at the conclusion of the evidence (May 15, 2003), but gave all counsel present the opportunity to submit written summations to the court on or by June 5, 2003. After that time, the matter could be brought back on by notice. The court issued an order on November 26, 2003. On December 1, 2003, the guardian ad litem was issued a stay by the Circuit Court to permit Richard, II and Kimberly to remain in their foster care placement pending appeal.

#### **TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS**

The guardian ad litem herein further contends that the circuit court erred by not terminating the parental rights of JoAnn Ashby and Richard L. O'Brien. The guardian acknowledges that there were no allegations that her clients were directly abused or injured. However, the evidentiary record establishes a classic case of failure to protect by a parent. In other words, Richard O'Brien's abuse coupled with JoAnn Ashby's refusal to acknowledge that Elizabeth was physically and sexually abused puts both of her young

clients at risk for further abuse, and thus, warrants the termination of JoAnn and Richard O'Brien's parental rights. This case closely parallels the recent Supreme Court decision *In re: Tyler D., Alexander A. and Nevaeh D.* No. 30908 (2003).

*In re: DHHR v. Doris S.*, 197 W. Va. 498, 475 S. E. 2d 874 (1996) explained that:

In order to remedy the abuse and/or neglect problem, the problem must first be acknowledged. Failure to acknowledge the existence of the problem, i.e., the truth of the basic allegation pertaining to the alleged abuse and neglect or the perpetrator of said abuse and neglect, results in making the problem untreatable and in making an improvement period an exercise in futility at the child's expense.

Given JoAnn Ashby's persistent position that Elizabeth and Melody were not sexually abused by Richard, there is no reasonable likelihood that the conditions of abuse and neglect can be corrected. In the 1989 case *In the Matter of Jonathan P.*, 182 W. Va. 302, 387 S.E. 2d 537, the Supreme Court held that:


Termination of parental rights, the most drastic remedy under the statutory provision covering the disposition of neglected children, W. Va. Code 149-6-5 (1977) may be employed without the use of intervening less restrictive alternatives when it is found that there is no reasonable likelihood under W. Va. Code that conditions of neglect or abuse can be substantially corrected.

#### CONCLUSION

Although parents have substantial rights that must be protected, the primary goal in cases of abuse and neglect, as in all matters of family law, must remain the health and welfare of the children. At the conclusion of the evidence, the trial judge

was faced with a difficult set of facts, complicated by the involvement of six attorneys who strongly argued for their respective clients. Nevertheless, the order of the circuit court should be reversed and the Supreme Court should enter an order terminating the parental rights of JoAnn Ashby and Richard O'Brien to all of their children and no further visitation or contact should be ordered between the O'Briens and the children. It would be appropriate to permit or fashion contact between the O'Brien children and their half-sister, Elizabeth Ashby, who is in a separate home.