STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action began by Petition executed on December 10, 2002, alleging variously that Adult Respondent Richard O. (a) had personally given to her a disgustingly and sexually perverted letter purportedly describing a history of sexual contacts between them and (b) that he had also had sexual intercourse with a childhood friend in a tent some one or two years earlier in her presence.

At the adjudicatory hearings, the Petitioner called Melody Bradbury. In her first testimony, Melody stated that she and Elizabeth were at Richard O's home in November 2001 and were playing Monopoly in a tent that was set up outside the residence. She testified that Richard O. tried to touch Elizabeth's arm. She denied that Richard O. had attempted to touch her. She also denied that Richard exposed his private parts to them. She further denied any prior abuse in North Carolina. Melody testified out of the presence of the adult respondents.

(the "letter" from) the first case now on appeal to this Court. As proof that this was both a "second bite at the apple" and deception upon both Courts, Petitioner DHHR then removed from the petition as an exhibit the copy of the "letter" (already litigated in the first case now on appeal) and altered the Petition to specifically allege acts that had been the subject of the "letter" (despite Elizabeth A's previous testimony that she could not "remember" any of the allegations asserted by the letter) and again presented the third version of the same Petition to the Circuit Court for issuance.¹ The Circuit Court (upon being then assured that the grounds were new and different) thereafter issued the third proffered Petition. Petitioner DHHR then provided the letter as a part of the disclosure rather than as an exhibit as had been refused by the Circuit Court.

At the Preliminary Hearing on the second case (third version of the Petition) on April 12, 2004, the Petitioner DHHR presented Elizabeth A., the primary fact witness, who (a) admitted that she had lied in her testimony in the first case (now on appeal to this Court) and (b) had a contrary (and totally opposite) version of her story to which she proceeded to testify. (She now alleged that the conduct described in the "letter" was actually true but that she had lied about that in the first case.) The Circuit Court appeared to Counsel to be visibly startled that the case again involved the same "letter" (and a rehash of the allegations) as previously alleged in the first case (denied by the witness, dismissed by the Circuit Court and now on appeal). The second case (third version of the Petition) was effectively identical to the case now on appeal after having been dismissed but being presented with altered testimony (a different tale). The Circuit Court dismissed the second Petition subsequent to the Preliminary Hearing by Order entered July 22, 2004. Counsel concludes that the admission of perjury in the first case must well have affected the credibility of Elizabeth A. in the second case. Thus, both cases were found to be based upon false and/or incredible testimony.

Cinday Derreberry testified. She is the sister of Joann A. and the guardian of Melody. She testified that she and Joann questioned both girls after a piece of a condom wrapper and a beer bottle were found in the tent. Both girls said that nothing happened. Cinday also testified that both girls stretch the truth at times. She also testified that Elizabeth A. would take fits and get "out-of-control." She testified that Elizabeth A. and Richard O. would get into arguments and Richard would try to discipline Elizabeth and that Elizabeth would resent it.

Elizabeth testified that she, Melody, and Richard O. were playing Monopoly in the tent. She said that she fell asleep and woke up to see Richard O. having sexual intercourse with Melody. (Recall that Melody had testified that this had not then, or ever, happened.) She denied that Richard tried to touch her. Elizabeth denied any knowledge of either letter in the DHHR custody. Elizabeth testified out of the presence of the adults.

The Respondent, Richard O., called Officer Mikel Harper from the Spencer City Police department. Officer Harper stated that he took a statement from Melody Bradbury at the start of this case. Melody had told him that in the tent, Richard had pulled down his pants and underwear and had exposed himself to both girls. She had also told the officer about an incident in North Carolina in which Richard had asked both girls to perform oral sex upon him.

The Respondent, Richard O. then called Patty Paxton. She is Richard's sister. She testified that the descriptions of abuse by her father in the first letter were not true. (The unauthenticated "letter" had described in detail how sexual abuse had been a family tradition on the O family.) She has never been sexually abused by their father. She

testified that Richard and Elizabeth's relationship was rough due to arguments and the like.

The Respondent, Richard O. took the stand. He adamantly denied any sexual misconduct in the tent incident. He also denied writing any of the letters in question. He testified that he treated Elizabeth as his own daughter and had helped raise her since she was a young child. He testified that she would tag along with him when he would go anywhere and she even helped design his tattoo of the children's names on his arm. In an apparent attempt to establish authorship of the "letter," Ms. Ashley (Elizabeth's *guardian ad litem*) gave him a spelling test. He misspelled all of the words given but only a couple of the words were spelled like the misspellings in the letters.

The Respondent, Richard O., then re-called Melody Bradbury. The testimony was striking in its blatant and continually changing versions of alleged events. This time the young lady changed her story and said that Richard had exposed himself in the dark to her and Elizabeth. She said he left before they went to sleep. She explained that she lied the last time because Richard was in the room (however, Richard O. had not been in the room when she testified). Melody further testified that she did not tell the police officer about alleged events in North Carolina and she insinuated that the police officer had lied about that part of the report. Melody again testified outside of the presence of the adult respondents.

The Respondent, Joann A. took the stand. She testified that she had found the letters. She testified that she and her sister, Cinday, had taken the possibility of misconduct seriously and had investigated the tent happenings with the result that no one ever admitted to anything. She took out a restraining order after she found the first letter.

She found the second letter (purportedly from Elizabeth A. to a friend alluding that the first letter had been a ruse to eject Richard O. from the home) and dropped the restraining order. She had sought outside assistance in her own investigation and concern by going to Psych Services psychological counseling and advise on such unfamiliar matters and the counselor made the referral. The DHHR notes said that the referent had said that Joann admitted to actually seeing her boyfriend sexually abuse her niece and daughter. Joann denied this.

On rebuttal, the Petitioner called the referent, Janice Blake of Psych Services. She clarified that Joann had told her that her daughter Elizabeth had reported seeing Joann's boyfriend have sex with the niece in the tent and not that Joann A. had reported personally seeing such activity.

RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a Circuit Court dismissal order and the Respondents admit that this Court has jurisdiction over appeals. West Virginia Code §58-5-1 allows civil appeals to be taken on appeal to this court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Appellees would agree with the quoted text from *In the Interest of Tiffany Marie S.*, 470 S.E.2d 177 (1969) from the Appellant's brief with emphasis on "These findings shall not be set aside by a reviewing court unless clearly erroneous."²

ARGUMENT

The Petitioner (DHHR) had failed to establish its case to the standard of proof necessary to find that the infant respondents are abused or neglected children as defined by law. In this case, Richard O. is accused of abusing and neglecting his minor children. The allegations suggest that Richard O. had engaged in sexual misconduct with a cousin of his children in a tent between one and two years prior to the Petition and that he had written a letter to the infant respondent Elizabeth A. detailing prior sexual abuse.³

Much of Melody Bradbury's testimony is simply not credible. She repeatedly contradicted herself even while on the witness stand. She even claimed that Richard's presence the first time that she testified had intimidated her but he nor either Adult Respondent were in the courtroom either time she testified. It was apparent that she was attempting to conjure her testimony and justify it as she was faced with varying questions.

Cinday Derreberry appeared credible and neutral. She gave the motivation behind the alleged letters. She said that Richard and Elizabeth's relationship was strained, that she would resist Richard's authority. She resented his attempts to discipline her.

One (of two) critical questions is, "who wrote the letters?" If you compare the letters, the same misspellings occur throughout both letters. It is very apparent that whoever wrote the first letter also wrote the second letter. Neither letter is signed. The first letter uses words that a feminine writer would use such as "make love."

² Note that the Circuit Court has now *twice* found the Petitioner's primary fact witness to not be credible on *both* of her versions of the evidence and has now *twice* dismissed *two* petitions on the merits and after personally presiding over the proceedings.

³ That Richard O. would detail in writing a confession of criminally explicit sexual misconduct was, and is, strikingly unlikely to Counsel. Nobody, even Appellant, pursued any theory that the letter was true.

Richard could not have written the second letter. It contained information known only to Elizabeth A. after he had already been ejected from the home. In the letter, Elizabeth tells her friend Rachel that she will talk to her Sunday night. Elizabeth visited Rachel on the Sunday night after Richard was removed from the home. Elizabeth testified that her plans to see Rachel were made after Richard left the home. Thus, Richard could not have known that Elizabeth was going to have any contact with Rachel on that Sunday Night. He was removed Friday before even Elizabeth knew she would have contact with Rachel. Aside from that, it makes no sense that Richard would be the author of the first letter.

First, the letter makes serious allegations against Richard's father. Richard and Patty both denied that their father had any sexual misconduct with them or their siblings. Second, if Richard is trying to hide this, why would he write what happened down and increase his chances of being caught. The letter indicates that Richard was leaving but there was no testimony that he had any plans to leave.

The only person who benefited from those letters was Elizabeth. As she stated in the second letter, she finally got Richard out of the house and even had his family mad at him.

As to the tent incident (the second critical question), there was testimony that in the fall of 2002, Elizabeth and Richard had been involved in an argument and Elizabeth wanted out of the house. The DHHR placed her with Richard's relative in Calhoun County. If Elizabeth had actual knowledge of Richard and Melody having sexual intercourse that would have been her perfect opportunity to disclose it (but, it may not have been thought of yet). The only scenario that makes sense is that Elizabeth later

planned the letters then made up the tent story at that time. (Once again, note that the pretended "victim" of the "tent" sex denied it in her testimony.)

Notably on reflection, DHHR (a) failed or declined to offer testimony in this case and (b) appeared to alter and/or conceal evidence exculpatory to the Respondents (and, consequently, damaging to its case).⁴ Matters that later (especially after a second case was filed and heard in the Circuit Court of which this Court was unaware) appeared to be important and within the knowledge of DHHR were missing. For example, allegations about the Respondents appearing at the DHHR office together would have to be substantiated by testimony from the Petitioner or its agents (That offhanded allegation went to the issue of whether Joann A. was protecting her children while the issue of the first "letter" was pending.). DHHR also "misquoted" Janice Blake to the effect that Joann had actually seen any sexual abuse. Also, Elizabeth A. testified that her statements to the DHHR were recorded. Upon a demand by Respondents to produce the tapes, the DHHR denied the existence of tapes of these interviews. The DHHR did not disclose Melody's prior inconsistent statements to the officer nor on tape until this Counsel discovered their existence and asked the Circuit Court to require their production.

In sum, there is no consistent substantiated evidence the Richard O. wrote any inappropriate letters or did any inappropriate sexual acts. There was absolutely no evidence of abuse or neglect of his two biological children. Richard O. has always treated Elizabeth as if she were his own child but if she wants to live with her biological father that is fine. Richard O. asks the Court to dismiss this petition and return the custody of his two minor biological children to him and their mother Joann A. This case

⁴ It is consistent with this practice that DHHR and Appellant failed to advise this Court of the second case and the repudiation of the underlying testimony in this case while this appeal was pending.

is composed of ill founded suspicions, excited accusations, agenda driven persecution, contradictions and testimony found by the trial court to be simply not credible (and later openly admitted by Elizabeth in the second case as "lies.").

The Appellant is correct in stating that here was no evidence that either of the two younger children were abused or neglected. In her brief she states that Melody was sexually abused by Richard O. but that the younger children should be deemed to be abused or neglected because Elizabeth was sexually abused by Richard O. The Appellant's own confusion on the point of which child was abused and in what manner shows how this case was vague to the point that the judge, parties, nor attorneys actually know whether the alleged acts occurred. No human could unravel the blatant fabrications and contradictions heard by the Circuit Court in these cases (including the follow-on case filed while this case was pending and of which this Court was not properly apprised).

As to the Appellant's arguments about the Court refusing to terminate the parental rights of the Respondents, the Court did not refuse to terminate parental rights, because the case never reached the stage of a dispositional hearing. The Court cannot terminate parental rights when the children are not abused and/or neglected .

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

The Respondents respectfully ask this Honorable Court to affirm the rulings of the Circuit Court of Roane County and dismiss this action.

Richard O, and
Joann A.,
Appellees By Counsel,

Sharon Y. Baldini for (#79751)

Teresa C. Monk, Esq..

WV Bar #7487

Deputy Chief Public Defender

Fifth Circuit Public Defender Corp.

Counsel for Richard O.

P.O. Box 894

Spencer, WV 25276

(304) 927-1192

(304) 927-1432 (Fax)

Dennis H. Curry

Dennis H. Curry, Esq.

WV Bar# 909

Counsel for Joann A.

P.O. Box 9

Spencer, WV 28276

(304) 927-4555

(304) 927-0944 (Fax)